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The Thomas H. Pitts Estate comprises a nearly complete early-twentieth- 
century dairy farm. It consists of a main house (1), a cottage (4), a gar- 
sge (11), a greenhouse (9), a well (3), a water tower (5), and three barns 
(6, 7 and 10) [numbers in parentheses refer to sketch map]. In addition to 
these standing structures, the dairy farm once had another cottage and three 
silos. The surviving buildings are in virtually original condition; only a 
few small changes have been made in them. These buildings stand in the 
remains of a cultural landscape that includes formally landscaped grounds in 
the immediate vicinity of the main house and agricultural grounds to the rear. 
Situated in what was once open countryside, the dairy farm is now almost com­ 
pletely surrounded by suburban subdivisions.

The main house (1), known as "Casa Loma," is situated on a gentle slope 
facing Cascade Road. From its position on this rise of ground, the house 
assumes a rather imposing appearance, especially from the road to the south 
[see photographs]. The house is reached by a narrow, winding, plant-lined, 
curbed, concrete driveway which crosses the slope in front of the house and 
passes through a porte cochere on its east side to a parking court and garage 
beyond. The front yard on either side of the driveway consists of trees and 
shrubs set in broad expanses of lawn. The east side yard shows evidence of 
original formal gardens (2), including a collapsed rose trellis and the site 
of a garden sundial.

The main house itself (1) (photographed) is a one-and-one-half-story 
bungalow. The exterior is sheathed in yellow brick laid in stretcher bond 
upon an exposed stone foundation. Windows are of various sizes and shapes; 
most are single pane, double sash, except for the front windows which contain 
multiple long narrow panes in the upper sash and other decorative windows, 
including the multiple-paned stair hall windows and semicircular and Palla- 
dian gable windows. The glassed front door is flanked by sidelights. The 
roof is essentially low and hipped, with multiple cross gables of various 
sizes and proportions; the gables are finished with half-timbering and stucco, 
in addition to the decorative windows. The front porch features short, fat 
Tuscan columns on brick pedestals and a spindled balustrade. A stone-and- 
brick stairway provides access to the front porch. The rear porch is screened 
by latticework. There are four yellow-brick chimneys.

The interior of the main house consists of a relatively open layout 
organized by a single hallway and controlled by double-hinged doors between 
the larger interior spaces [see photographs]. When open, these double doors 
provide for a continuous, flowing interior space; when closed, they create 
discrete interior spaces. Yet even when closed, these glassed doors maintain 
an illusion, if not an actuality, of interplay among interior spaces. The 
interior finish is primarily smooth plaster, for the most part painted, but 
with small wallpapered areas. Baseboards and architrave moldings are rather
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simple and flat. A picture molding at doorway and window lintel height runs 
around the principal rooms. Above it, separated by a band of plastered wall, 
is a heavy cornice molding. Doors are either panelled, with a large panel 
above and a smaller below, or filled with multiple panes of glass. Floors 
are presumably hardwood, although now covered with carpet and out of sight. 
Fireplaces in the living and dining rooms are simple, all-brick constructions, 
with stretcher bricks set for the most part horizontally and vertically, and 
with a "frieze" panel of bricks set diagonally in the form of lozenges. 
Another fireplace in a sitting room is reminiscent of Early American styles. 
Interesting details include a turned molding in a corner of the hallway and 
built-in bookcases around the fireplace in the living room.

Immediately behind the main house stand the well house (3), greenhouse 
(9), cottage (4), garage (11) and water tower (5). These buildings and 
structures are related by proximity, by the driveway and parking court, and 
by remnants of the original backyard landscaping.

The well house (3) (photographed) is a pyramidal-roofed, four-posted 
structure. Its eaves are flared, and below them project exposed rafters. 
Sides consist of diagonal latticework. The well house is surrounded by shrub­ 
bery.

The greenhouse (9) (photographed) is a simple shed structure with a wood 
framework and glass panels. It is presently overrun inside and out by an 
assortment of shrubs, vines and trees.

The cottage (4) (photographed) is a one-story, hip-roofed structure with 
a single interior chimney. The cottage is built of frame construction and is 
sheathed with clapboards. It has a front porch with a shed roof, square-sec­ 
tioned Tuscan columns, and a spindled balustrade. The cottage was originally 
occupied by servants. (A second cottage (8) also of frame construction with 
a gable roof and a front porch, was recently destroyed.)

The garage (11) (photographed) is a shed-roofed, frame structure sheathed 
with flush vertical siding. There are two bays on the front and several double- 
sash windows on the back. The west end of the garage (extending under the 
foliage in the photograph) was the original smokehouse.

The watertower (5) (photographed) consists of a supporting structure and 
tank. The tank, elevated some forty-five feet above ground, is a heavy-guage,

[continued]



Form No 10-300a 
(Hev. 10-74)

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR 
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES 
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

CONTINUATION SHEET Description ITEM NUMBER 7 PAGE 3

sheet-steel drum. The supporting structure is a four-sided truss made up of 
tubular-steel compression struts and cable-tension members.

Behind and to one side of these outbuildings are the three dairy barns 
(6, 7 and 10). One, located immediately north of the domestic complex, is 
the "low" barn (7) (photographed). It is rectangular in plan, one-story high, 
with a low gable roof. Its structure is wood frame, sheathed with flush ver­ 
tical siding, built on a concrete foundation and floor, and covered with a 
corrugated-sheet-metal roof. The "low" barn was used as a milking facility. 
The other two barns, considerably larger than the low barn, are identical to 
each other. Each is rectangular in plan, two and one-half stories high, with 
a broad gable roof broken by a continuous clerestory gable. Wood-frame struc­ 
ture is sheathed by flush vertical siding and covered by a corrugated-sheet- 
metal roof. Flooring is dirt. Cows were kept in these two large barns. The 
barns are no longer in use, and the area around them is overgrown with weeds, 
bushes, and trees.

As a whole, the dairy farm is in relatively good condition. Taken indi­ 
vidually, the various buildings and structures range from excellent (e.g., the 
main house) to poor (e.g., the cottage) condition. The landscaping is over­ 
grown, but recognizable. The land around the dairy, once fields, pastures, 
and open countryside, is now largely developed in suburban subdivisions.
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The Thomas H. Pitts Estate ("Casa Loma") is significant for its architec­ 
tural qualities and landscaping, and historically significant for the role it 
played in dairying.

The estate's current sixteen acres contain the visible remains of an 
early-twentieth-century, self-contained private dairy that Thomas H. Pitts, a 
native of Thomas County, Georgia, built about 1919 after he decided to move 
from his home in town to this country estate. Pitts had moved to Atlanta and 
about 1894 opened one of the first soda fountains in the city. He remained 
in business continuously for over thirty years at Five Points, the hub of the 
business district of the city. There, he sold cigars, magazines, cameras, 
candy, Coca-Cola, as well as dairy-based products such as sodas. He began the 
dairy about 1910 largely to supply the needs of his soda fountain, as he never 
marketed the products to the general public. Indicative of the popularity of 
his soda fountain is that a familiar saying of the times was "Meet me at Tom 
Pitts 1 ." After his retirement from the business in 1926, Pitts devoted full 
attention to the dairy as well as to his real estate interests. The dairy 
products were used to supply other fountains as well as the Georgia Baptist 
Orphans' Home, of which he was a major benefactor and trustee.

After his arrival in Atlanta, Pitt had married a local woman, the former 
Miss D. Wilson Lowe. As active as was her husband in charitable and religious 
affairs, Mrs. Pitts organized a committee to beautify Cascade Road. The Cas­ 
cade Beautification Club, as it was known, had as their original goal the 
planting of dogwoods, magnolias and azaleas along Cascade Road to the Chatta- 
hoochee River. Although the goal was never reached, they did beautify a large 
part of the road. The group, as well as Mrs. Pitts' other clubs, often met at 
her home, "Casa Loma" (meaning "house on the hill), where many of the landscap­ 
ing plans were drawn. The landscaping of the estate was also coordinated by 
Mrs. Pitts. Today, only scattered plantings remain of the efforts of Mrs. 
Pitts and her club. A bronze plaque was placed at the corner of Cascade Road 
and De Lowe Drive by the group to honor Mrs. Pitts, in 1936.

The first structure that was later to consist of the Pitts Dairy complex 
was a cottage built in 1910, where the Pitts family lived until the main house 
was finished 1n 1919. The main house, "Casa Loma," said to have been designed

[continued]
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by a Mr. McGoukin, and most of the other buildings were finished by 1919. For 
several decades, the farm was virtually self-sufficient. Mr. Pitts farmed 
part of the land in order to grow grain needed by the cows. Three silos 
existed then in which it was stored.

The Pitts both died in 1938, he in February and she in December. They 
had no children, and after their deaths (under the terms of his will), Casa 
Loma became a life estate for Mrs. Pitts 1 niece, Faye (Spinks) Bardin, who, 
with her husband and children, moved onto the property permanently in 1939. 
She still lives in the main house. All dairying activities have long since 
ceased, and the herd was given away. The house retatns its imposing position 
along Cascade Road, and an uninformed passerby would hardly know of the exis­ 
tence of a once-thriving dairy on the property.

The architectural significance of the Thomas H. Pitts Estate lies not in 
the architectural excellence of any individual building, nor in the quality of 
landscaping per se, but rather in the overall character of the complex as a 
whole. In general, the estate retains the aspect of an early-twentieth-cen­ 
tury dairy. All original buildings and structures necessary to the operation 
of the dairy remain in nearly unaltered condition. Furthermore, the land­ 
scaped setting retains evidences of both the original formal landscaping in 
the immediate vicinity of the main house and the more utilitarian landscaping 
around the outbuildings behind the house. The only missing elements are the 
fields, pastures, woodlots, and open countryside around the dairy farm, and 
in a sense, the extent of these can still be seen in the suburban subdivisions 
that surround the property. The Thomas H. Pitts Estate serves as a reminder 
of the rural and agricultural history of an area which has undergone recent 
and thorough suburban development.

The Pitts Dairy is significant in the history of private dairying in 
Georgia because it is an intact, small dairy farm surviving within the 
metropolitan limits of Atlanta. The estate has remained intact under the 
terms of Mr. Pitts 1 will. Certainly there were many larger and more productive 
dairies both in the Atlanta area and throughout the state. This is the only 
knowm one in the Atlanta area that remains in this condition and is unusual 
for that fact. It is also of note that despite his prominence and wealth, 
Thomas H. Pitts built this dairy on the same location as he built his home to 
supply milk products for his business rather than purchasing the base product 
from an outside producer or building his dairry;and his home at separate 
locations, as would many people of his standing.
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Verbal Boundary Description

and Lynhurst Drive and running 703 feet west along Cascade Road and thence 
963.5 feet north and thence 695 feet east to the northeast corner of the 
property and thence south 1058 feet south along Lynhurst Drive to Cascade 
Road, the point of origin.
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